IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 76,336

JUNE H. KOTTMEIER, individually and in her capacity as personal representative of the Estate of CARL KOTTMEIER,

Petitioner,

VS.

GENERAL MOTORS ACCEPTANCE CORPORATION, a corporation,

Respondent.

ON CERTIFICATION FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, SECOND DISTRICT

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

WAGNER, CUNNINGHAM, VAUGHAN & McLAUGHLIN, P.A. 708 Jackson Street Tampa, Fla. 33602 -and-PODHURST, ORSECK, JOSEFSBERG, EATON, MEADOW, OLIN & PERWIN, P.A. 25 West Flagler Street, Suite 800 Miami, Florida 33130 (305) 358-2800

Attorneys for Petitioner

BY: JOEL D. EATON Fla. Bar No. 203513

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On February 18, 1986, Karl Kottmeier suffered severe injuries when his automobile was struck by an automobile driven by Scott Raybuck (R. 1). He (and his wife, for her derivative claim) brought a negligence action against three defendants: Mr. Raybuck; General Motors Acceptance Corporation (hereinafter GMAC), the owner/lessor of the automobile; and Richard Hersh, the lessee of the automobile (R. 1). GMAC's amended answer admitted that it was the owner/lessor of the automobile driven by Mr. Raybuck, but denied that it was the "beneficial owner" of the vehicle, and contended that it therefore could not be held liable for Mr. Raybuck's negligence (R. 22).

Shortly thereafter, GMAC filed a motion for summary judgment bottomed upon a single ground:

... The basis for this motion, and the substantial matters of law to be argued, are that this Defendant was not the beneficial owner of the automobile involved in the accident which is the subject of this lawsuit, and therefore cannot be liable to Plaintiffs under the Dangerous Instrumentality Doctrine.

(R. 33). GMAC also filed the affidavit of its "leasing manager" (R. 31). The affidavit admitted that GMAC was the legal owner of the vehicle driven by Mr. Raybuck, but denied that GMAC was the "beneficial owner" of the vehicle or exercised any "control" over it (id.). A copy of the "lease agreement" was also filed (R. 25, 91). In addition, GMAC filed Mr. Hersh's response to its requests for admissions, in which he admitted the leasing arrangement; admitted that GMAC did not control the day-to-day use of the vehicle; admitted that he had exclusive possession of the vehicle; but denied that he was the "beneficial owner" of the vehicle (R. 19, 20).

While the motion for summary judgment was pending, the court was advised of Mr. Kottmeier's death on November 17, 1988, and Mrs. Kottmeier, individually and in her capacity as personal representative of her husband's estate, was substituted as plaintiff (R. 38, 134). An amended complaint was then filed, which alleged in the

alternative both a survival action and a wrongful death action against the defendants (R. 146). GMAC's motion for summary judgment was heard thereafter, and granted -- and a final judgment was entered in GMAC's favor (R. 298). A timely appeal was taken to the District Court of Appeal, Second District.

Before the appeal was argued, the Second District decided *Perry v. G.M.A.C. Leasing Corp.*, 549 So.2d 680 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1989), *review denied*, 558 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1990). Although the issue in that case was the constitutionality of the legislature's 1986 modification of the "dangerous instrumentality doctrine" where long-term leases are concerned, the *Perry* Court had to determine whether long-term lessors were liable under the doctrine prior to 1986 in order to resolve that question -- and it announced (for the first time ever in the history of the law of Florida) that they were not. *Perry* was followed shortly thereafter by *Kraemer v. General Motors Acceptance Corp.*, 556 So.2d 431 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1989), which squarely holds that, prior to 1986, owner/lessors leasing their vehicles under long-term leases were not liable under Florida's "dangerous instrumentality doctrine". Given the settled rule that one panel of a district court is bound by the decision of another panel of the same court, *Perry* and *Kraemer* foreordained the outcome in the instant case.

Prior to oral argument of the case, the Third District also decided Raynor v. de la Nuez, 558 So.2d 141 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1990), which followed Kraemer, but which was certified to this Court as passing upon a question of great public importance. When

The statute at issue in *Perry* was §324.021(9)(b), Fla. Stat. (1986 Supp.), effective July 1, 1986, which appears to modify Florida's "dangerous instrumentality doctrine" in circumstances where an owner/lessor has leased a vehicle for a term of one year or longer, and the lessee has complied with the minimum liability insurance requirements of the statute. This statute is inapplicable to the instant case for two reasons. First, GMAC did not contend that the statute could permissibly be applied retroactively to the instant suit, which arose out of an accident occurring before the effective date of the statute. Second, such a contention would run afoul of the Constitution in any event. *Frothingham v. Jabe Tile Corp.*, 14 FLW 5 (Cir. Ct. Dec. 6, 1988). *See Kaisner v. Kolb*, 543 So.2d 732 (Fla. 1989).

the case finally came on for decision, the Second District affirmed the summary judgment entered in GMAC's favor, and certified the issue to this Court. The panel's decision reads in its entirety as follows:

Affirmed. See Raynor v. de la Nuez, 558 So.2d 141 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990); Kraemer v. General Motors Acceptance Corp., 556 So.2d 431 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990).

As did the Third District Court of Appeal in Raynor, we certify this case to the Florida Supreme Court as of great public importance. It involves whether under circumstances like those recited in Kraemer a long-term lessor of an automobile may be held liable under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine to a plaintiff injured by the operation of the automobile.

Kottmeier v. General Motors Acceptance Corp., 561 So.2d 1369 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1990). A copy of the decision is included in the appendix to this brief, as required. Although this Court denied review in Perry, it granted review in Kraemer. It also granted review in Raynor -- and several other cases involving the issue presented here are presently before the Court.

II. ISSUE PRESENTED ON REVIEW

WHETHER, PRIOR TO THE ENACTMENT OF \$324.021(9)(b), FLA. STAT. (1986 SUPP.), A VEHICLE OWNER LEASING A VEHICLE UNDER A LONG-TERM LEASE WAS VICARIOUSLY LIABLE FOR THE NEGLIGENT OPERATION OF THAT VEHICLE UNDER FLORIDA'S "DANGEROUS INSTRUMENTALITY DOCTRINE".

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The question of whether an owner/lessor is vicariously liable under Florida's "dangerous instrumentality doctrine" has been answered several times by this Court -- in the affirmative, and without drawing any distinction whatsoever between long-term leases and short-term leases. To the contention that there should be no vicarious liability

where "possession and control" have been relinquished to another, this Court has responded that "possession and control" is ultimately an irrelevant question -- that the "dangerous instrumentality doctrine" is simply a rule of public policy creating an additional layer of financial responsibility for the protection of the travelling public. Statutory developments have paralleled these developments in the decisional law. Section 627.7263 has long provided, without drawing any distinction whatsoever between long-term leases and short-term leases, that a lessor's liability insurance coverage is primary unless shifted to the lessee "in bold type on the face of the rental or lease agreement" -- and there are numerous decisions of this Court applying and enforcing that statute. Neither the statute nor this Court's decisions on the subject would make any sense at all unless the "dangerous instrumentality doctrine" applied to owner/lessors.

The first time that any distinction was ever drawn in Florida between long-term and short-term leases was after the accident at issue in the instant suit, when the legislature enacted §324.021(9)(b), Fla. Stat. (1986 Supp.), which excepts long-term lessors from liability if their lessees maintain substantial amounts of liability insurance. But that statute amounts to a legislative recognition that the "dangerous instrumentality doctrine" theretofore did apply to long-term leases, since all that the amendment does is create a narrow exception to that vicarious liability -- and actually leaves that liability fully in place where the lessee fails to purchase the insurance required to relieve the long-term lessor of liability under the doctrine. In sum, all of the sign posts on the pre-1986 legal landscape pointed in one well-established direction: motor vehicle owner/lessors were liable under Florida's "dangerous instrumentality doctrine", as a matter of public policy and to ensure financial responsibility for negligently caused injuries -- irrespective of the fact that they had relinquished "possession and control" of their vehicles to their lessees, and without regard to the length of their contractual arrangements to that end.

The Second District badly misread these sign posts in *Perry* and *Kraemer*. In fact, it appears that these sign posts were overlooked altogether. Instead, the Court

inappropriately relied upon a decision of this Court involving a conditional *sale*; it erroneously concluded that the phrase "beneficial ownership" appearing in that decision meant the same thing as "possession and control"; and, thus confused, it decided that, unlike short-term leases, long-term leases transferred "beneficial ownership" to the lessee in the same way that conditional sale contracts do, and that long-term lessors should therefore escape liability under the doctrine for the same reasons that conditional vendors do.

As we shall explain in some detail in the argument which follows, this conclusion is bottomed upon a mistaken understanding of property law. A lease transfers only "possession and control"; it does not transfer "beneficial ownership". "Beneficial ownership" is a synonym for "equitable title" -- a claim to title which a law court will not enforce, but which will be enforced in a court of equity if a conditional vendor fails to deliver legal title upon the purchaser's compliance with the conditional sale contract. The distinction drawn by this Court's decisions has been between ownership and a "sale" of ownership, not between short-term relinquishment of "possession and control" and long-term relinquishment of "possession and control". Given the long line of authority represented by this Court's prior decisions and the parallel statutory developments, it ought to be clear that the analogy drawn in Perry and Kraemer between conditional sale contracts and long-term leases is an impermissible analogy which has no relevance to application of Florida's "dangerous instrumentality doctrine". Prior to the enactment of §324.021(9)(b), the "dangerous instrumentality doctrine" clearly applied to owner/lessors, whether long-term or short-term.

GMAC's contention below -- that the definition of the word "owner" in §324.021(9), Fla. Stat. (1985), relieves all owner/lessors whose lessees have executed an option to purchase from both (1) the financial responsibility requirements of Chapter 324, and (2) the "dangerous instrumentality doctrine" -- is simply wrong. The definition certainly relieves such an owner/lessor from the minimum insurance requirements of

Chapter 324, but that is all that it does; it does not even arguably purport to relieve such an owner/lessor from the "dangerous instrumentality doctrine" separately imposed upon it by the long line of authority upon which we have relied here. That is clear from both the plain language of §324.021, which defines the word only "for the purpose of this chapter". That is also clear from the decisional law, which has long held that the "dangerous instrumentality doctrine" exists independently of, and is broader than, the minimum insurance requirements imposed by Chapter 324. The *only* portion of Chapter 324 which even arguably purports to address the "dangerous instrumentality doctrine" is the recent amendment to §324.021, which is *not* applicable to the instant case -- and which, fairly read, fully supports the conclusion that the "dangerous instrumentality doctrine" applied to long-term leases prior to enactment of the limited exception contained in the amendment.

IV. ARGUMENT

PRIOR TO THE ENACTMENT OF §324.021(9)(b), FLA. STAT. (1986 SUPP.), A VEHICLE OWNER LEASING A VEHICLE UNDER A LONG-TERM LEASE WAS VICARIOUSLY LIABLE FOR THE NEGLIGENT OPERATION OF THAT VEHICLE UNDER FLORIDA'S "DANGEROUS INSTRUMENTALITY DOCTRINE".

We alert the Court at the outset that the argument which follows is essentially the same argument which we presented to the Court in our briefs on the merits in the Raynor case (case no. 75,870), with some minor embellishments. If the briefs in the Raynor case have been digested, the Court does not need to read the remainder of this brief (unless it is interested in the minor embellishments). We will set out our position in detail nevertheless, to enable the respondent to prepare a responsive brief.

Our obvious burden here is to demonstrate that *Perry* and *Kraemer* were wrongly decided. We intend to do that. In our judgment, the Second District misread the road signs; took a wrong turn at a sign labelled "beneficial ownership" (the meaning of which

it simply misunderstood); and ended up miles from the destination to which a correct reading of the decisional and statutory law should have directed it. That demonstration will make more sense if we first sketch out the map which the Second District misread.

1. The historical legal background.

We begin with Southern Cotton Oil Co. v. Anderson, 80 Fla. 441, 86 So. 629 (1920). In that case, this Court announced that a motor vehicle is a dangerous instrumentality, and that the public policy of Florida required that an owner be financially responsible for damages caused by one to whom the vehicle has been entrusted. In that paradigm case at least, that has undeniably been the law in this State for the last 70 years. See Michalek v. Shumate, 524 So.2d 426 (Fla. 1988).²

The question of whether an owner who has *leased* a vehicle to another is liable under the "dangerous instrumentality doctrine" was answered by this Court 43 years ago in *Lynch v. Walker*, 159 Fla. 188, 31 So.2d 268 (1947). The Court squarely held that commercial owner/lessors *are* subject to the doctrine, and it drew no distinction whatsoever between long-term leases and short-term leases. The question recurred in *Fleming v. Alter*, 69 So.2d 185 (Fla. 1954). The Court stuck to its guns: "To hold that liability would be limited to damage caused by the bailee alone where a dangerous instrumentality is put in circulation in such fashion would be entirely beyond our conception of the responsibility one should assume where he is in the business of

We can find only one solid exception to this general rule in this Court's decsions. In Castillo v. Bickley, 363 So.2d 792 (Fla. 1978), the Court held that an owner was not liable under the "dangerous instrumentality doctrine" for the negligent operation of a vehicle by a repairman, where the service agency with which it had been left for repairs entrusted it to the repairman. The narrowness of this exception was emphasized in Michalek v. Shumate, supra, where the Court refused to extend it to negligent operation by a serviceman to whom the owner had directly entrusted it: "An owner who authorizes another to transport his car to a service agency remains in control thereof and ultimately liable for its negligent operation until it is delivered to an agency for service". 524 So.2d at 427. In a leasing arrangement, like the arrangement in issue in the instant case, the vehicle is entrusted directly to the lessee, so the rationale of Michalek would seem to apply, rather than the limited exception for further entrustment by the initial entrustee created in Castillo.

entrusting vehicles of such character to another for a price." 69 So.2d at 186. Once again, the Court drew no distinction whatsoever between long-term leases and short-term leases.

The question was decided again in Susco Car Rental System of Florida v. Leonard, 112 So.2d 832 (Fla. 1959). Once again, the Court refused to budge. In response to the owner/lessor's contention that the "dangerous instrumentality doctrine" should not apply because an owner/lessor relinquishes "possession and control" of the vehicle under a commercial lease, the Court responded, " . . . when control of such a vehicle is voluntarily relinquished to another, only a breach of custody amounting to a species of conversion or theft will relieve an owner of responsibility for its use or misuse". 112 So.2d at 835-36. Once again, the Court drew no distinction whatsoever between long-term leases and short-term leases.

This Court also made it clear in *Susco* that the question of who has "possession and control" of a vehicle is ultimately an irrelevant question, because the "dangerous instrumentality doctrine" is simply a rule of public policy creating an additional layer of financial responsibility for the protection of the travelling public:

There can be no doubt from current statistics that the dangerous character of motor vehicles has become more obvious than when originally so denominated by this Court, and the number and complexity of police regulations has vastly increased. But just as was noted at the outset in this jurisdiction, it has been the legislative view that the public interest requires more than regulation of operation, and that safety regulations can never, in fact, eliminate the enormous risks involved. Responsibility under the law was accordingly attached to *ownership* of these instrumentalities, evinced first by registration laws and now by numerous provisions to assure financial responsibility of owners. It is plain that these provisions are based on the assumption that an owner cannot deliver a vehicle into the hands of another without assuming, or continuing, his full responsibility to the public. . . .

112 So.2d at 837 (emphasis in original; footnotes omitted).

The issue arose again in Roth v. Old Republic Insurance Co., 269 So.2d 3 (Fla.

1972). The Court reaffirmed *Susco*, and drew no distinction whatsoever between long-term leases and short-term leases. The issue arose again in *Meister v. Fisher*, 462 So.2d 1071, 1073 (Fla. 1984). The Court held as follows:

... In the instant case, the country club had rented the golf cart to Fisher. However, this factor does not call for a different result, since in Florida the [dangerous instrumentality] doctrine clearly extends to and encompasses the bailment relationship. See Lynch v. Walker, 139 [sic] Fla. 188, 31 So.2d 268 (1947).

Although the bailment in question was obviously a short-term bailment, the Court mentioned no distinction between short-term leases and long-term leases.

And, as recently as March 29, 1990, in deciding an issue not implicated by the facts in the instant case, this Court reaffirmed the long line of authority cited above, as follows:

Enterprise Leasing correctly notes that it remained liable, as owner of the vehicle, for injuries to third parties as a result of the negligent operation of the vehicle under Florida's dangerous instrumentality doctrine despite a contractual provision in the lease prohibiting [the lessee] from allowing others to use the car. . . .

Enterprise Leasing Co. v. Almon, 559 So.2d 214, 215 (Fla. 1990) (emphasis supplied). Once again, the Court drew no distinction whatsoever between long-term leases and short-term leases. In addition, see Leaseco, Inc. v. Bartlett, 257 So.2d 629 (Fla. 4th DCA 1971), cert. denied, 262 So.2d 447 (Fla. 1972); Avis Rent-A-Car System v. Garmas, 440 So.2d 1311 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1983), review denied, 451 So.2d 848 (Fla. 1984); P & H Vehicle Rental & Leasing Corp. v. Garner, 416 So.2d 503 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982).

Statutory developments have paralleled the developments in the decisional law. For example, Chapter 319 of the Florida Statutes, which deals with Title Certificates, expressly lumps both short-term and long-term rentals under a *single* category, which it calls "for-hire vehicles". *See* §319.14(1)(b)(2), Fla. Stat. (1985). More to the point, §627.7263, Fla. Stat., which was first enacted in 1976, declares (without drawing any

distinction whatsoever between long-term and short-term leases) that a *lessor's* liability insurance coverage "shall be primary" unless shifted to the lessee "in bold type on the face of the rental or lease agreement". Of course, this statute would make no sense whatsoever if owner/lessors had no liability under the "dangerous instrumentality doctrine", because their insurers would have no liability to begin with -- primary, secondary, or otherwise.

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