# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

10-19

JUNE H. KOTTMEIER, individually and in her capacity as personal representative of the Estate of CARL KOTTMEIER,

Petitioner,

vs.

GENERAL MOTORS ACCEPTANCE CORPORATION, a corporation,

Respondent.

SEP/27 1990 SUPREME CO **GLERK** By, Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 76,338

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT GENERAL MOTORS ACCEPTANCE CORPORATION

> LARRY I. GRAMOVOT, ESQUIRE Fla. Bar #273570 MALLERY & ZIMMERMAN, S.C. 101 Grand Avenue P.O. Box 479 Wausau, WI 54402-0479 (715) 845-8234

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

#

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

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

It is clear that under Florida law the beneficial owner of a motor vehicle, rather than the naked legal title holder, is liable in tort pursuant to the dangerous instrumentality doctrine. Beneficial ownership vests in one who has day-to-day control over the use of the vehicle and is, for all practical purposes, the owner of that vehicle. In the instant case, GMAC never had meaningful control over the use of the automobile leased to Richard Hersh, pursuant to the long-term lease agreement. Hersh had exclusive possession and control of the vehicle for a minimum of 48 months, with an option to purchase at the expiration of that Hersh had sole responsibility for obtaining insurance term. on the automobile, renewing the registration, obtaining license plates and doing all maintenance on the vehicle. In addition, Hersh, not GMAC, was the beneficiary of the manufacturer's warranty. Hersh was also responsible for paying all taxes on the vehicle, and was free to operate it in any manner he chose so long as he did nothing to damage the vehicle in the event he elected not to purchase it at the expiration of the lease. Consequently, GMAC was simply not the beneficial owner of the vehicle, and could not be held liable under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine.

Numerous cases in Florida have dealt with the dichotomy between beneficial ownership and legal ownership, primarily under conditional sales contracts. Those cases have

consistently held that the person with beneficial ownership, rather than the title holder, is liable in tort for the use of a motor vehicle. There is no material distinction between a conditional sale and GMAC's long-term lease with option to purchase as they relate to the issue of beneficial ownership, and the applicability of the dangerous instrumentality doctrine. GMAC, like a conditional vendor, has no authority or control over the day-to-day use of the vehicle. Both the vendee and lessee are responsible for maintaining the vehicle, securing all required insurance, licenses and tags and paying all taxes. The conditional vendee and lessee both have exclusive beneficial ownership of the vehicles they possess. In fact, the Florida Legislature has classified long-term lessors with conditional vendors, and has provided that neither is the "owner" of a motor vehicle for purposes of financial responsibility or the application of the uniform traffic laws. To hold GMAC liable under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine because it is a "lessor" rather than a "conditional vendor" is to elevate form over substance.

The dangerous instrumentality doctrine has never been absolute in its application, and has never been expressly applied by any Court of this state to hold a long-term lessor such as GMAC liable. Respondent submits that the doctrine should not now be expanded to hold the title holder, rather than the beneficial owner, liable in this case.

#### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY RULED THAT WHERE GMAC HAD RELINQUISHED BENEFICIAL OWNER-SHIP OF A VEHICLE TO A LONG-TERM LESSEE, IT WAS NOT SUBJECT TO LIABILITY UNDER THE DANGEROUS INSTRUMEN-TALITY DOCTRINE.

The facts of the instant case are not in dispute. Rather, based upon those facts, Petitioner takes the position that GMAC as "owner" of the long-term lease vehicle is responsible for any negligence of Scott Raybuck in the operation of that vehicle. The undisputed facts, however, clearly show that GMAC had relinquished beneficial ownership of the automobile to Richard Hersh, the long-term lessee, and consequently was not the "owner" of the vehicle within the meaning of those cases imposing liability predicated upon the dangerous instrumentality doctrine.

This Court first applied the dangerous instrumentality doctrine to motor vehicles in the landmark case of <u>Anderson</u> <u>v. Southern Cotton Oil Co.</u>, 74 So. 975 (Fla. 1917). In that case the Defendant, Southern Cotton Oil Company, owned an automobile which it had permitted its employees to use for the purpose of driving to and from Pensacola to eat their meals. In April 1914 one of Southern Cotton Oil Company's employees, utilizing Southern's automobile with its permission, struck a motorcycle operated by Anderson. Suit by Anderson followed, and the Trial Court directed a verdict

in favor of Southern Cotton Oil Company finding there was no legal basis for imposing liability on that company. 74 So. at 976. On appeal, this Court reversed. In its Decision, the Court initially discussed the fact that although automobiles may not be classified as <u>per se</u> dangerous instrumentalities, because of their speed and weight they may become extremely dangerous by negligent or inefficient use. <u>Id</u>. at 978. The Court went on to note:

The lawmaking power of the state, in recognition of the many and great dangers incident to their use, has enacted special regulations for the running of automobiles or motor vehicles on the public roads and highways of the state. . . . These regulations relate primarily to duties that are imposed upon the owners of such vehicles. While these regulations do not expressly enlarge the common law liabilities of employers for the negligence of the employees, the statute does impose upon the owners of automobiles and motor vehicles duties and obligations not put upon the owners of other vehicles that are not so peculiarly dangerous in their operation, and specifically requires licenses, numbering, etc., for purposes of identifying the owner, and enacts that automobiles shall not be so operated on a public highway "as to endanger the life or limb of any person." It is also enacted that in the case of accident the name and address of the owner shall be given on request. The owners of automobiles in this state are bound to observe statutory regulations for their use and assume liability commensurate with the dangers to which the owners or their agents subject others in the using of the automobiles on the public high-The principles of the common law do not permit ways. the owner of an instrumentality that is not dangerous per se, but is peculiarly dangerous in its operation to authorize another to use such instrumentality on the public highways without imposing upon such owner liability for negligent use. . . In view of the dangers incident to the operation of automobiles and the duties and obligations of the owners of motor vehicles under the statutes of the state, it could not be said that on the facts of this case no question was made for the jury to decide. Id. at 978 (emphasis added, citations omitted).

Clearly, this Court imposed liability without fault upon the owner of the motor vehicle based, in large part, upon the traffic statutes placing various duties upon automobile owners, and the obvious legislative intent behind those traffic statutes. Moreover, there was absolutely no question that Southern Cotton Oil Company had loaned its own automobile, which it had total control over, to one of its employees who then caused injury to the Plaintiff.

This Court again addressed the issue of liability under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine in Palmer v. R. S. Evans, Jacksonville, Inc., 81 So.2d 635 (Fla. 1955), but dealt with facts differing substantially from those in Anderson, supra. In Palmer an individual named Hughes was purchasing an automobile from R. S. Evans, and about 20 minutes after taking the car from Evans' lot, Hughes struck a motorcycle on which Palmer was riding. 81 So.2d at 635. The contract for sale of the vehicle by Evans to Hughes was not executed until the day after the accident occurred. The issue of whether R. S. Evans was liable to Plaintiff was presented to the jury, and the jury returned a verdict in favor of Evans. Id. at 636. In affirming the verdict in favor of Evans, this Court noted that before Hughes drove the automobile out of Evans' lot, "the definite intention existed on the part of Hughes and the Evans representative to make immediate transfer of the beneficial ownership of the vehicle to Hughes. . . . " Id. at 636. Of particular significance, the Court noted:

Thus legal title to the automobile remained in the seller, R. S. Evans, at the time the accident occurred. But the rationale of our cases which imposed tort liability upon the owner of an automobile operated by another . . . would not be served by extending the doctrine to one who holds mere naked legal title as security for payment of the purchase price. In such a title holder, the authority over the use of the vehicle which reposes in the beneficial owner is absent. Probably because of this fact, the term "owner" is defined in Fla. Stat. §317.74(20), F.S.A., to mean only the conditional vendee, in the case of a vehicle which is the subject of an ordinary agreement for conditional sale. Moreover, in jurisdictions having statutes making the owner liable for the negligence of another driving his car with his consent, the term "owner" has been universally construed to eliminate those who hold nothing more than naked legal title. . . . It is therefore apparent that it was necessary for appellee in the case before us to prove only that the beneficial ownership had passed to Hughes before the accident occurred and, as we have indicated above, the proof was adequate upon this point. Id. at 637 (emphasis added, citations omitted).

Clearly, the determinative factor in <u>Palmer</u>, <u>supra</u>, was the fact that Hughes had beneficial ownership of the automobile in question, notwithstanding the fact that R. S. Evans held legal title. It should be noted that once again this Court referred to the fact that the Florida Traffic Statutes (at that time Chapter 317, presently Chapter 316), imposed certain obligations upon the "owners" of motor vehicles, but specifically provided that the conditional vendor was not the "owner"; rather, the conditional vendee was statutorily defined as the owner of the vehicle. <u>See</u> <u>also, Hicks v. Land</u>, 117 So.2d 11 (Fla. 1st DCA 1960); <u>Williams v. Davidson</u>, 179 So.2d 387 (Fla. 1st DCA 1965); <u>McCall v. Garland</u>, 371 So.2d 1080 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979);

<u>Harrell v. Sellars</u>, 424 So.2d 881 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982);
<u>Wummer v. Lowary</u>, 441 So.2d 1151 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983).

Presently, the State Uniform Traffic Control Statutes are contained within Chapter 316, Fla. Stat. In part, § 316.002, Fla. Stat. (1985), provides that "it is the legislative intent in the adoption of this chapter to make uniform traffic laws to apply throughout the state and its several counties and uniform traffic ordinances to apply in all municipalities." As with the conditional vendor in Palmer, supra, § 316.003(27), Fla. Stat. (1985), defines "owner" within the meaning of the State Uniform Traffic Control Act:

OWNER - A person who holds the legal title of a vehicle, or, <u>in the event a vehicle is the subject</u> of an agreement for the conditional sale or lease thereof with the right of purchase upon performance of the conditions stated in the agreement and with an immediate right of possession vested in the conditional vendee or lessee, or in the event a mortgagor of a vehicle is entitled to possession, <u>then</u> <u>such conditional vendee</u>, or lessee, or mortgagor <u>shall be deemed the owner, for purposes of this</u> <u>chapter</u> (emphasis added).

Clearly, the State Uniform Traffic Control Act does <u>not</u> apply to Respondent, GMAC, pursuant to the Legislature's definition of "owner."

In addition, Chapter 324, dealing with financial responsibility, provides in part under § 324.011, Fla. Stat. (1985):

It is the intent of this chapter to recognize the existing privilege to own or operate a motor vehicle on the public streets and highways of this state when such vehicles are used with due consideration for others and their property, and to promote safety and provide financial security requirements for such owners or operators whose responsibility it is to recompense others for injury to person or property caused by the operation of a motor vehicle.

Section 324.021(9), Fla. Stat. (1985) then goes on to define "owner" within the meaning of the financial responsibility statute; that definition is <u>verbatim</u> the same as the definition contained within § 316.003(27), Fla. Stat. quoted <u>supra</u>. Once again, the Legislature saw fit to provide that where a vehicle is subject to a conditional sale or lease with a right of purchase upon performance of the conditions stated in the agreement, and with an immediate right of possession vested in the conditional vendee or lessee, <u>it is</u> the vendee or lessee that is the "owner" of the vehicle.

In summary, unlike in <u>Anderson</u>, <u>supra</u>, the Legislature has <u>not</u> imposed upon GMAC the obligation to properly operate the vehicle in question on the roads of this state, nor has it imposed upon GMAC the financial responsibility requirements of Chapter 324. On the contrary, as in <u>Palmer</u>, <u>supra</u>, the Legislature has found fit to specifically provide that the long-term lessee, in this case Mr. Hersh, is the "owner" of the motor vehicle in question. The Legislature obviously recognized that responsibility for use of the vehicle in a long-term lease situation (where the lessee has an option to purchase the vehicle) should be vested in the beneficial owner -- the long-term lessee. In that regard, the Legislature has done little more than codify this Court's Decision in <u>Palmer</u>, <u>supra</u>.

Prior to the Second District Court of Appeal's Decision in Kraemer v. GMAC, 556 So.2d 431 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989), which will be discussed infra, the issue of whether a long-term lessor can be responsible under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine had not been squarely addressed by any Courts of this state. That precise issue was, however, addressed by the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia in Lee v. Ford Motor Co., 595 F. Supp. 1114 (D. D.C. 1984). In Lee an individual named Fullwood was an employee of the U.S. Government, and he struck the Plaintiff while operating a government vehicle leased from Ford Motor Company pursuant to a long-term lease agreement. The District of Columbia had previously adopted the dangerous instrumentality doctrine by statute, entitled the Motor Vehicle Safety Responsibility Act, D.C. Code § 40-408. Id. at 1114. Of course, suit was filed by Lee against Ford Motor Company, seeking to hold Ford liable under the codified version of the dangerous instrumentality doctrine.

Ford moved for summary judgment contending that it was not the "owner" of the long-term lease vehicle within the meaning of the Motor Vehicle Safety Responsibility Act. In discussing the issue, the District Court initially noted that prior to a definition of "owner" being specifically included within the act itself, the holding of title, with no immediate right of control, was not sufficient to impose liability. <u>Id</u>. at 1115. Rather:

The judicially developed law under the 1929 Act had substituted a practical test of ability to control a vehicle's use for the more rigid definition of "owner." Id. at 1115.

In that regard, the judicially developed law was quite the same as that developed in Florida. Moreover, as in Florida, Congress had, in 1956, modified the Motor Vehicle Safety Responsibility Act to include a definition of "owner," which is in fact identical to the definitions contained within §§ 316.003(27) and 324.021(9), Fla. Stat. (1985). After discussing the pre-existing case law, and the 1956 modification to the Act itself, the Court stated:

In the present case, it is undisputed that Ford lacked "dominion and control" over the vehicle in The car had been provided to FCA by question. Ford while one of the vehicles under a long term lease between the parties was being repaired. . . Under the lease, title remained in Ford but authority to control and operate the vehicle was given to the lessee, FCA. Ford had no immediate right to control the use of the vehicle at the time of the accident. While Ford did indeed "consent" to the operation of its cars by FCA employees, such blanket consent, which is the essence of a contract to lease, does not put Ford in the "position . . . to allow or prevent the use of the vehicle . . . " in any given case. . . . It is this immediate right of control, as an incident of ownership, that is the focus of the act in question. Id. at 1116 (emphasis added, citations omitted).

In summary, when dealing with precisely the same issue as is involved in the instant case, and precisely the same statutory definition of "owner," the Federal District Court in <u>Lee</u> ruled that liability attached to the beneficial owner, the long-term lessee, rather than to the long-term lessor which held title to the vehicle in question. <u>See</u>

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